#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

RECEIVED

12-23-2013

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT III

\_\_\_\_\_

Appeal No. 2013 AP 002536

VILLAGE OF LITTLE CHUTE,

Plaintiff – Respondent,

v.

RONALD A. ROSIN,

Defendant – Appellant.

#### BRIEF OF DEFENDANT – APPELLANT

#### APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR OUTAGAMIE COUNTY THE HONORABLE NANCY KRUEGER PRESIDING

JOHN MILLER CARROLL LAW OFFICE

John Miller Carroll State Bar No. 1010478 Attorney for Defendant – Appellant

226 S. State St. Appleton WI 54911 (920) 734-4878

#

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Are the Standardized Field Sobriety Tests a "search" within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment?

The Circuit Court answered: No. The Defendant-Appellant submits: Yes.

Should the quantum of evidence to conduct a field sobriety test search be higher than reasonable suspicion?

The Circuit Court answered: No. The Defendant-Appellant submits: Yes.

Did the officer have reasonable suspicion to conduct field sobriety tests?

The Circuit Court answered: Yes.
The Defendant-Appellant submits: No.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested. However, publication is requested, as the issues presented for review present questions of constitutional interpretation, and the administration of a highly litigated area of the Wisconsin criminal justice system.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is an appeal from a judgment, entered in Outagamie County Circuit Court, the Honorable Nancy Krueger presiding, in which the Defendant-Appellant, Ronald

A. Rosin ("Rosin"), was found guilty of Operating While Intoxicated (1st Offense). (R. 6).

On November 16, 2012, the Village of Little Chute filed a citation in the Village of Little Chute Municipal Court charging Rosin with, Operating While Intoxicated (1<sup>st</sup> Offense), contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63 (1)(a). (R. 1). Rosin was ultimately convicted by the municipal court and appealed to the circuit court. (R. 1).

On or about November 13, 2013, Rosin filed a *Motion* to *Suppress Evidence* in the circuit court. (R.3). On November 13, 2013, prior to the court trial, the trial court reviewed and denied the motion.

Following the circuit court's ruling denying the motion, a Court Trial was held on November 13, 2013. (R.11). Rosin was found guilty of Operating While Intoxicated (1<sup>st</sup> Offense). (R. 6). Following the finding of guilt, the circuit court imposed an eight (8) month driver's license revocation; ordered an alcohol and drug assessment; and, a one year ignition interlock requirement; in addition to a forfeiture. (R. 6).

The Order finding guilt was entered on November 14, 2013. (R. 6). This appeal follows.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

As indicated above, a Citation (R.1) was filed on November 16, 2012 (R.1) charging Rosin with Operating While Intoxicated (1st Offense). Rosin was stopped for making a wide left hand turn in the Village of Little Chute by Fox Valley Metro Officer Michael Grumann (Officer Grumann). Upon making contact with Rosin, Officer Grumann alleges to have observed a slight odor of intoxicants coming from Rosin's vehicle. (R. 14:9) Officer Grumann determined that the mere odor of intoxicants, combined with the time of night, absent other personal idicia of intoxication, were reasonable clues to determine that suggested that Rosin was intoxicated. As such, Officer Grumann administered field sobriety tests; which Rosin allegedly performed unsatisfactorily. Following the FSTs, Rosin submitted to the preliminary breath test and was ultimately arrested for Operating While Intoxicated (1<sup>st</sup> Offense).

Also indicated above, Rosin filed a *Motion to Suppress Evidence* on November 13, 2013. (R. 3). Rosin contended that Officer Grumann lacked probable cause to detain him and lacked either reasonable suspicion or probable cause to require him to perform standardized field sobriety tests.

Rosin argued that the standardized field sobriety tests ("FSTs") are a "search" in the constitutional sense, as such an officer must have, at a minimum, a quantum of evidence higher than reasonable suspicion, but lower than probable cause to require a person submit to this "search." Rosin contended that all Officer Grumann possessed at the time he administered the FSTs was an unparticularized hunch that Rosin was intoxicated. (R. 7:1-7).

On November 13, 2013, the circuit court orally denied Rosin's motion. Essentially, the circuit court held that the FSTs are not a "search" within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment. Therefore, all that is required to perform FSTs is reasonable suspicion under the totality of the circumstances. (R. 11). Going further, the circuit court held that in the instant case the officer had reasonable suspicion to perform the FSTs. (R. 11).

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. THE STANDARDIZED FIELD SOBRIETY TESTS ARE A "SEARCH" WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE FOURTH AMENDMENT

#### a. Standard of Review

An appellate court is not bound by the circuit court's conclusions of law and decides the issues *de novo*. *State v*. *Foust*, 214 Wis.2d 568, 571-72, 570 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App.1997).

# b. Field Sobriety Tests Constitute A "Search" Within The Constitutional Sense

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution declares:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

United States Const., Amend. IV.

The question as to whether FSTs, specifically the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus, Walk-and-Turn and One-legged Stand tests, are a "search" within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment has never been addressed by Wisconsin courts. Therefore, an issue of first impression is presented. Fortunately, several other jurisdictions have had the

opportunity to interpret the instant issue and therefore provide guidance to the case at hand. *See e.g.*, *Berg v. Schultz*, 190 Wis.2d 170, 177, 526 N.W.2d 781 (Ct. App. 1994) ("Because this is a case of first impression, we look to other jurisdictions for guidance.").

"A 'search' occurs when an expectation of privacy that society is prepared to consider reasonable is infringed." *United States v. Jacobsen*, 466 U.S. 109, 113, 104 S. Ct. 1652, 1656 (1984). An inherent right as a human being is to control and coordinate the actions of their own body. Hence, a fundamental expectation of privacy is implicated when a person is subject to the performance of FST.

Essentially, all jurisdictions that have had the occasion to address the issue have held that FSTs constitute a "search" in the constitutional sense. In *People v. Carlson*, 677 P.2d 310 (Colo. 1984), the Colorado Supreme Court held that FST "constitutes a full 'search' in the constitutional sense of that term[.]" *Id.* at 317. *Also see e.g. United States v. Hopp*, 943 F. Supp. 1313 (D. Colo. 1996) (holding FST are searches within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment); *and also State v. Lamme*, 19 Conn. App. 594, 563 A.2d 1372 (Conn. App. 1989), affirmed, 216 Conn. 172, 579 A.2d 484 (Conn. 1990);

<u>State v. Little</u>, 468 A.2d 615 (Me. 1983); <u>State v. Superior</u>
<u>Court</u>, 149 Ariz. 269, 718 P.2d 171 (Ariz. 1986); <u>State v.</u>
<u>Wyatt</u>, 67 Haw. 293, 687 P.2d 544 (Haw. 1984); <u>Blasi v.</u>
<u>State</u>, 167 Md. App. 483, 893 A.2d 1152 (Md. Ct. App. 2006).

# II. THE QUANTUM OF EVIDENCE TO REQUIRE FSTs SHOULD BE HIGHER THAN REASONABLE SUSPICION

The threshold determination that FST are "searches" within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment having been established, the question now becomes what quantum of evidence attaches to the FST search in order to be constitutional. The Fourth Amendment calls for this determination. As is no surprise, no Wisconsin court has addressed the issue. Rosin turns to other jurisdictions.

At the outset, Rosin acknowledges that there is a split in authority amongst the jurisdictions having addressed the instant issue. Some courts have held the quantum of evidence required is reasonable suspicion<sup>1</sup>, while some courts hold probable cause<sup>2</sup> is required.

7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See e.g., <u>State v. Lamme</u>, 19 Conn. App. 594, 563 A.2d 1372 (Conn. App. 1989), affirmed, 216 Conn. 172, 579 A.2d 484 (Conn. 1990); <u>State v. Little</u>, 468 A.2d 615, 617-18 (Me. 1983); <u>State v. Superior Court</u>, 149 Ariz. 269, 718 P.2d 171, 175-76 (Ariz. 1986); <u>State v. Wyatt</u>, 67 Haw. 293, 687 P.2d 544, 552-53 (Haw. 1984).

Rosin finds *People v. Carlson*, 677 P.2d 310 (Colo. 1984) to be particularly persuasive. In *People v. Carlson*, the Colorado Supreme Court held:

We are left then with the issue of the validity of the roadside sobriety tests, a matter not considered below. A roadside sobriety test involves an examination and evaluation of a person's ability to perform a series of coordinative physical maneuvers, not normally performed in public or knowingly exposed to public viewing, for the purpose of determining whether the person under observation is intoxicated.

Since these maneuvers are those which the ordinary person seeks to preserve as private, there is a constitutionally protected privacy interest in the coordinative characteristics sought by the testing process. Although some forms of governmental intrusion are so limited in scope as to be justified on a lesser quantum of evidence than probable cause, see, e.g., *Michigan v. Long*, supra; *Terry v. Ohio*, supra, a roadside sobriety test does not fall into this category.

Roadside sobriety testing constitutes a full "search" in the constitutional sense of that term and therefore must be supported by probable cause. The sole purpose of roadside sobriety testing is to acquire evidence of criminal conduct on the part of the suspect. Intrusions into privacy for the exclusive purpose of gathering evidence of criminal activity have traditionally required, at the outset of the intrusion, probable cause to believe that a crime has been committed. See *Michigan v. Clifford*, 464 U.S. 287, 104 S. Ct. 641, 78 L.Ed.2d 477 (1984); *Sibron v. New York*, 392 U.S. 40, 88 S.Ct. 1889, 20 L.Ed.2d 917 (1968); *Warden v. Hayden*, 387 U.S. 294, 87 S.Ct. 1642, 18 L.Ed.2d 782 (1967).

Id. at 316-17.

Acknowledging the persuasive value, Rosin urges the Court to find, as a matter of first impression, that the level of suspicion in Wisconsin should be probable cause, but not to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See e.g. <u>People v. Carlson</u>, 677 P.2d 310 (Colo. 1984); <u>United States v. Hopp</u>, 943 F. Supp. 1313 (D. Colo. 1996)

the extent of probable cause to arrest. Rather, Rosin suggests a quantum of evidence that is *more* than reasonable suspicion, but *less* than probable cause to arrest. Rosin makes this suggestion by analogically applying the rationale of decision rendered by the Wisconsin Supreme Court in *County of Jefferson v. Renz*, 231 Wis.2d 293, 603 N.W.2d 541 (1999).

In *Renz*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court was faced with interpreting the "probable cause" language as used in Wis. Stat. § 343.303. *Id.* The Renz court held that "probable cause," as that term is used in sec. 343.303, refers "to a quantum of proof greater than the reasonable suspicion necessary to justify an investigative stop, and greater than the 'reason to believe' that is necessary to request a PBT from a commercial driver, but less than the level of proof required to establish probable cause for arrest." *Renz*, 231 Wis.2d 293, 316, 603 N.W.2d 541 (1999).

Rosin submits that rationale of <u>Renz</u> is should be applied here. Firstly, similar to a FST, a PBT constitutes as "search" under the federal and state constitutions.<sup>3</sup> Secondly,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In <u>Skinner v. Railway Labor Executives' Assn.</u>, 489 U.S. 602, 616–17, 109 S.Ct. 1402, 103 L.Ed.2d 639 (1989), the U.S. Supreme Court held: "Subjecting a person to a breathalyzer test, which generally requires the production of alveolar or 'deep lung' breath for chemical analysis, ... implicates similar concerns about bodily integrity and, like the blood-

and more importantly, such a standard sufficiently protects the citizen's right to be from unreasonable searches and seizures.

Rosin acknowledges the state's legitimate interest in keeping impaired drivers off the road. However, in weighing the burden FSTs impose on the individuals' right to be free from unreasonable searches, Rosin contends that the reasonable suspicion standard is insufficient. A FST search, conducted on the roadside, can prove to be a time consuming, frightening, annoying and an embarrassing intrusion. For this very reason, a quantum of evidence that is greater than reasonable suspicion, but less than probable cause to arrest is appropriate.

III. UNDER EITHER STANDARD, THE OFFICER LACKED THE REQUISITE QUANTUM OF EVIDENCE TO REQUEST THE FST SEARCHES BECAUSE THE OFFICER ENCOUNTERED CIRCUMSTANCES THAT DID NOT ESTABLISH THAT THE DEFENDANT WAS COMMITTING AN OWI

alcohol test ... considered in <u>Schmerber [v. California</u>, 384 U.S. 757, 86 S.Ct. 1826, 16 L.Ed.2d 908 (1966)], should also be deemed a search. [Citations omitted.]" *Accord <u>Milwaukee County v. Proegler</u>*, 95 Wis. 2d 614, 623, 291 N.W.2d 608, 612 (Ct. App. 1980) ("While the taking of a breath sample is a search and seizure within the meanings of the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions, such a search can be conducted if incident to arrest or if a police officer has probable cause to arrest.");

FSTs are designed to determine if a person is operating with a blood alcohol concentration of .10 or higher. In this case, the officer did not encounter circumstances which could reasonably lead him to believe that Rosin had a blood alcohol concentration of .10 or higher, or that he was even intoxicated. According to Officer Grumann, the only factors that indicated that Rosin was intoxicated were the slight odor of alcohol and the time of night that he was stopped. (R. 1) Furthermore, Officer Grumann did not observe any of the typical signs of intoxication, such as; slurred speech, lethargic or clumsy mobility, confusion, etc. until after the initial FSTs were conducted. (R. 1). In fact, Officer Grumann noted that Rosin's speech was not slurred. (R. 1).

What Officer Grumann did encounter, was a situation where the facts indicated that Rosin had consumed some alcohol some time prior to driving. Rosin indeed admitted to consuming some amount of alcohol. (R. 1). However, the mere consumption of alcohol before driving is not unlawful. Not only is this reality evinced by the plain language of the statute itself (Wis. Stat. § 346.63), but is also made clear by the pattern jury instructions: "not every person who has

consumed an alcoholic beverage is 'under the influence' as that term is used here." (WIS JI-CRIMINAL 2663). Put another way, Wisconsin has not prohibited driving after consuming alcohol.

The facts of the instant case only support a conclusion that Rosin had consumed alcohol; there were no articulable facts suggesting that he was intoxicated. To violate Wisconsin's OWI law, the prosecution must establish that the individual's ability to drive was impaired as a consequence of consuming intoxicants. *See* Wis. Stat. § 346.63 (1)(a). It is therefore necessary that an officer possess objective facts justifying a legitimate suspicion that the individual's ability to drive is in fact impaired as a consequence of alcohol consumption for that officer to be justified in administering FSTs – whether or not, the Court holds the FSTs to be a constitutional "search."

### **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully requested that the Court of Appeals reverse the circuit court's ruling denying the Defendant-Appellant's motion to suppress evidence.