RECEIVED

COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSTN-13-2014 DISTRICT III

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN

VILLAGE OF LITTLE CHUTE,

Plaintiff - Respondent,

v.

Appeal No. 13 AP 2536 Case No. 13 CV 429

RONALD A. ROSIN,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF - RESPONDENT

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR OUTAGAMIE COUNTY THE HONORABLE NANCY KRUEGER PRESIDING

HERRLING CLARK LAW FIRM LTD. Attorneys for Plaintiff - Respondent

> Andrew J. Rossmeissl State Bar No. 1054026

ADDRESS: 800 North Lynndale Drive Appleton, WI 54914 (920) 882-3219

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

May a law enforcement officer request that a person perform field sobriety tests when the officer reasonably suspects the person is guilty of OWI, or must the law enforcement wait until he or she has probable cause?

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested. Publication is neither Wisconsin Statutes requested, appropriate nor §809.23(1)(b) states, in pertinent part, "an opinion should not be published when...the decision is by one court of appeals judge under s.752.31(2) and (3)." §752.31(2) indicates that municipal ordinance violation cases, cases involving violations of traffic regulations, and cases involving civil forfeitures shall be decided by one court of appeals judge. The present matter falls in all three of these categories. To this parties' knowledge, a three-judge panel has not been requested by the Defendant-Appellant.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about March 1st, 2013, the Village of Little Chute municipal court found Ronald A. Rosin (hereinafter "Rosin") guilty of Operating a Motor Vehicle While Under the Influence of an Intoxicant on November 16, 2012, contrary to Village of Little Chute Ordinance 26-1 adopting Wisconsin Statute §346.63(1)(a) (hereinafter "OWI") and Operating a Motor Vehicle With a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration on November 16, 2012 contrary to Village of Little Chute Ordinance 26-1 adopting Wisconsin Statute §346.63(1)(a) (hereinafter "PAC").

Rosin filed a request for a trial de novo, resulting in the matter being transferred to Outagamie County Circuit Court. The parties stipulated to a court trial, despite the fact that a jury demand had earlier been made by Rosin. On the morning of trial, Rosin filed a notice of motion and motion to suppress evidence.

Officer Michael Grumann provided testimony consisting of his initial observations up to the point in time that he requested Rosin perform field sobriety tests. The parties argued the suppression motion and Rosin's motion to suppress was denied. The parties then stipulated to other

pertinent facts and the Circuit Court found Rosin guilty of OWI and PAC. Rosin only appeals the circuit court's decision denying Rosin's motion to suppress.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Ronald A. Rosin was charged with OWI and PAC. Officer Michael Grumann testified for the Village of Little Chute (hereinafter the "Village"). R.28-2. Officer Grumann is a police officer for the Fox Valley Metropolitan Police Department and has been employed in that capacity for 10 years. R.28-3. He received a degree in Police Science from Lake Shore Technical College in 2001, completed a standardized field sobriety training course at Fox Valley Technical College in 2003, completed a drugs that impair driving course at Fox Valley Technical College in 2005, and an advanced roadside impaired driving course at Northeast Wisconsin Technical College in 2010. R.28-3, 4. He also completed a Drug Evaluation and Classification Program. Id. His resume is part of the Record and contains a more detailed summary of his training and experience. R 8-1.

Officer Grumann was on duty on November 16, 2012 at approximately 12:37 a.m. R.28-5. He was situated in the

Walgreens parking lot near the intersection of Madison Street and West Lincoln Avenue in the Village of Little Chute and was monitoring traffic within his stationery vehicle. Id. At or about 12:37 a.m., he noticed a silver Chevrolet Impala driving west on West Lincoln Avenue make a left-hand turn to go over the Community Bridge. R.28-6. When the vehicle made the left-hand turn, it turned wide into the right (farthest) lane of traffic instead of turning into the left (closest) lane of traffic. *Id.* The vehicle also turned beyond the right (farthest) lane of traffic, crossing over a solid white line separating the right lane of traffic from a bicycle lane. Id. The vehicle almost struck the curb. Id. Officer Grumann followed the vehicle and again saw the vehicle drift to the right with its passenger-side tires crossing over the while bicycle lane line. R.28-7.

Officer Grumann initiated a traffic stop. *Id.* Rosin was identified by his Wisconsin driver's license. R.28-8. Officer Grumann initially noticed a slight odor of alcoholic beverages coming from the vehicle. However, the odor was masked by a strong odor of cigarette smoke. *Id.* He also noticed that Rosin's eyes were watery and bloodshot. *Id.* The strong odor of cigarette smoke was alarming to Officer

Grumann because, through his training and experience, Officer Grumann knows that people sometimes try to disguise the odor of alcohol with cigarette smoke. *Id.* Rosin indicated that he was coming from the "Up The Hill Bar." Rosin initially admitted to having one beer. *Id.* Officer Grumann briefly returned to his car to perform his normal checks, and then re-approached Rosin's vehicle and asked Rosin to exit the vehicle. R.28-9.

After Rosin exited the vehicle, Officer Grumann noticed that the cigarette smoke had started to dissipate and he could then smell a strong odor of alcoholic beverages coming from Rosin's person. R.28-10. He continued to observe Rosin's watery and bloodshot eyes. *Id*.

The circuit court found that specific and articulable facts existed to indicate by the totality of the circumstances that there was a reasonable suspicion to believe that Rosin was operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant. The circuit court also reviewed the resume of Officer Grumann and noticed that he appears to be well qualified both by experience and training as an officer and, in particular, related to training concerning field sobriety and

impaired driving. R.28-22, 23. Accordingly, the circuit court denied Rosin's motion to suppress evidence. R.28-23.

Rosin admits, and the parties stipulated, that Rosin "failed the field sobriety tests," that the Defendant's performance on said field sobriety tests would lead to a finding that Officer Grumann had probable cause to arrest Mr. Rosin for operating while under the influence of an intoxicant," and that there was otherwise "probable cause for the arrest." R.28-23, 24. The parties also stipulated that Officer Grumann read the Informing the Accused form verbatim to the Defendant in accordance with applicable guidelines and statutes, that Officer Grumann observed a qualified withdrawal nurse acting under the care of a physician withdraw blood from Rosin's arm in accordance with all statutory and administrative guidelines. R.28-24. Furthermore, the parties stipulated that blood was drawn within three (3) hours of driving, and stipulated to the admission of Exhibit 3, the Blood/Urine Analysis form from the Wisconsin Statute Laboratory of Hygiene, indicating that .164 g/100mL of ethanol was found in the Defendant's bloodstream. R.28-24. The circuit court took judicial notice of this test result and Rosin did not object. Id.

The circuit court clarified that Rosin was stipulating that there was probable cause for the arrest, that Officer Grumann complied with the Informing the Accused requirements, that the form was read to the Defendant, that a medical technician appropriately withdrew the blood and placed it in a container that was sent to the State Laboratory of Hygiene, that there were no chain of custody or hearsay objections or issues, and that the blood alcohol level was detected at .164 and the Defendant's BAC was stipulated to. R.28-25.

Following the court trial, the circuit court found Rosin guilty of both OWI and PAC, and made a specific finding that Rosin's blood alcohol concentration was greater than .15 g/100mL; specifically that his BAC was .164 g of ethanol per 100mL of blood while he was driving on November 16, 2012. R.28-29.

At trial, the only contested issue was whether a police officer, having reasonable suspicion that an individual is guilty of OWI, may request that individual to perform field sobriety tests. Rosin argued that an officer must have probable cause to believe that an individual is guilty of OWI

before the officer may request a defendant to perform field sobriety testing. The circuit court disagreed.

ARGUMENT

- I. WISCONSIN COURTS HAVE LONG HELD THAT REASONABLE SUSPICION, BUT NOT PROBABLE CAUSE, IS REQUIRED IN ORDER FOR A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER TO DETAIN A DEFENDANT FOR THE PURPOSE OF CONDUCTING FIELD SOBRIETY TESTS.
 - a. A police officer may temporarily detain a person when the officer reasonably suspects the person has committed a violation of a non-criminal traffic regulation.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that "[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons ... against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause...." In *Terry v. Ohio*, the U.S. Supreme Court allowed that, although investigative stops are seizures within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment, in some circumstances police officers may conduct such stops even where there is no probable cause to make an arrest. 392 U.S. 1, 22, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968). Such a

stop must be based on more than an officer's "inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or 'hunch.' " Id. at 27, 88 S.Ct. 1868. Rather, the officer "must be able to point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant" the intrusion of the stop. *Id.* at 21, 88 S.Ct. 1868.

The Supreme Court adopted the *Terry* standard for investigative stops in *State v. Chambers*, 55 Wis.2d 289, 294, 198 N.W.2d 377 (1972). The Wisconsin legislature codified the standard in Wis. Stat. § 968.24.

The Court of Appeals extended the rule of Wis. Stat. § 968.24 to allow law enforcement officers who reasonably suspect that a person has committed a *non-criminal traffic law* to detain and temporarily question the person. *State v. Griffin*, 183 Wis.2d 327, 333–34, 515 N.W.2d 535 (Ct.App.1994).

b. An officer may extend a traffic stop to request a person to perform field sobriety tests if the officer discovers additional information leading to a reasonable suspicion that a person is guilty of OWI.

Police officers are required to have reasonable suspicion to believe that a person was operating while

impaired before detaining an individual for field sobriety tests. See, eg, County of Jefferson v. Renz, 231 Wis.2d 293, 310, 603 N.W.2d 541 (1999).

In Renz, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held,

"After stopping the car and contacting the driver, the officer's observations of the driver may cause the officer to suspect the driver of operating the vehicle while intoxicated. If his observations of the driver are not sufficient to establish probable cause for an OWI violation, the officer may request the driver to perform various field sobriety tests.

Renz, 231 Wis.2d at 310.

An extension of a stop to request field sobriety tests is reasonable if "the officer discovered information subsequent to the initial stop which, when combined with information already acquired, provided reasonable suspicion that [the defendant] was driving while under the influence of an intoxicant." *State v. Colstad*, 2003 WI App. 25, ¶ 19, 260 Wis.2d 406, 659 N.W.2d 394.

If, during a valid traffic stop, the officer becomes aware of additional suspicious factors which are sufficient to give rise to an articulable suspicion that the person has committed or is committing an offense or offenses separate and distinct from the acts that prompted the officer's intervention in the first place, the stop may be extended an a new investigation begun. The validity of the extension is tested in the same manner, and under the same criteria, as the initial stop.

State v. Betow, 226 Wis.2d 90, 94-95, 593 N.W.2d 499 (Ct. App. 1999).

Thus, what must be determined is whether the officer discovered information subsequent to the initial stop which, when combined with information already acquired, provided reasonable suspicion that Rosin was driving under the influence of an intoxicant.

When asking a person to perform field sobriety tests, an officer has reasonable suspicion if he or she is able to "point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rationale inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant" the intrusion of those tests. *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, ¶10, 301 Wis.2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634.

"[W]hat constitutes reasonable suspicion is a commonsense test: Under all the facts and circumstances present, what would a reasonable police officer reasonably suspect in light of his or her training and experience." *State v. Young*, 2012 Wis.2d 417, 424, 569 N.W.2d 84 (Ct. App. 1997).

c. Officer Grumann had sufficient articulable information to reasonably suspect that Rosin was driving under the influence of an intoxicant.

At 12:37 a.m. on November 26, 2012, Officer Grumann noticed Rosin make an illegal left turn. Not only did Rosin turn left into the right lane of traffic contrary to Wis. Stat. §346.31(3)(c), but he also crossed over a solid white line designating a bicycle lane and almost struck the curb. Thereafter, Officer Grumann noticed Rosin drift back and forth into and out of the bicycle lane.

At this point in time, Officer Grumann had probable cause to believe that Rosin had violated a traffic law. In addition, he was aware of facts indicative of OWI, including Rosin's bad and illegal driving and the time of day.

When Officer Grumann approached Rosin, he noticed additional indicators of OWI:

- 1. A slight odor of alcoholic beverages coming from the vehicle.
- 2. A strong odor of cigarette smoke known to
 Officer Grumann as a common attempt to
 mask the odor of intoxicants.

- 3. Rosin's eyes were watery and bloodshot.
- Rosin admitted that he was coming from the "Up The Hill Bar."
- 5. An admission to drinking.

These additional suspicious factors taken together with the already-known factors, gave rise to a suspicion that Rosin committed an offense separate and distinct from Rosin's illegal driving, namely OWI. Thus, Officer Grumann was entitled to begin a new investigation.

Officer Grumann next asked Rosin to exit his vehicle. At this point, Officer Grumann noticed that the cigarette smoke had dissipated and the odor of alcoholic beverages coming from Rosin was now characterized as strong. He continued to notice Rosin's watery and bloodshot eyes.

At this point, Officer Grumann reasonably suspected that Rosin was guilty of OWI. Under existing Wisconsin law, Officer Grumann was entitled to request Rosin to perform field sobriety tests.

CONCLUSION

Because Wisconsin law permits an officer who reasonably suspects a person of OWI to request that said person perform field sobriety tests, the Court of Appeals

should affirm the circuit court's Order denying Rosin's motion to suppress evidence. Although this is the only issue that Rosin has argued on appeal, this will effectively result in the affirmation the circuit court's entire Order, including Rosin's adjudication of guilt of the OWI and PAC charges.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that this Brief conforms to the rules contained in Wisconsin Statutes Section 809.19(8)(b) and 809.19(8)(c) for a brief produced using the following font:

Proportional font: double-spaced, 2-inch margins on the left side and right side and 1-inch margins on the top and bottom. The length of this brief is 13 pages and contains 2259 words.